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A Visit to India after the
Chinese Invasion

By JOHN TILNEY, MP, TD

Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Commonwealth Relations

Continent, to be up here on my feet, when everyone in this room knows

infinitely more about India and Pakistan than I do, but I would like to
say that it is an honour to be here. I am afraid that you may put me in
the same class as a Merseyside schoolboy who was learning chemistry,
and when asked what copper nitrate was replied : Overtime for policemen.
But 1 am still very much a new boy, as was brought home to me after
I had been at the Commonwealth Relations Office only a short time.
I staggered up with two brief cases—I had been told that 1 would have to
have my photograph taken for various agencies abroad and I had to be
there at a certain hour—up the steps of the c.r.0., and nobody paid the
least attention to me. I thought that sooner or later one of the very nice
old gentlemen who stand in the hallway might come and take one case
off me, but ultimately one approached me and said ‘““Are you another of
those so and so photographers ?”’ I must say that I wished that I had some
photographs and slides with me today because a talk like this can be
pretty dry.

I hope you will all forgive me, however, if I start talking to you not
about my visit to India two weeks ago, but of my visit to China two years
ago. I was then Chairman of the British Group of the Inter-Parliamentary
Union, and we had an annual conference in Tokyo. Mr. John Temple,
the Member for Chester, and 1, thought that a most interesting way to go
there would be via Moscow, then across Siberia, through Outer Mongolia,
and then down to Peking—which we surprisingly managed to do. 1 did
not spend a great deal of time in China, but [ came back with some very
deep impressions of what might happen from that great country. We were
only going there unofficially, and as you know Western Embassies in
Peking are really out on a limb. They only see each other, and they are
never quite sure, with Chinese soldiers at their gates, whether they will
be able to meet any Chinese. And when we arrived, although we had got
our visas our Chargé d’Affaires told us that he was not at all sure whether
the Chinese Government were going to pay any attention to us or not,
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so we all planned to go off and see those gorgeous Ming tombs on a picnic.
We were in our picnic clothes having breakfast when the telephone rang
and a message came through that we were expected to report at 9 o’clock,
and were to visit an iron and steel commune, an agricultural commune and
then were to dine with the Institute of Foreign Affairs; in fact the whole
programme of our stay in Peking had been very carefully mapped out,
and it was one which interested me immensely. We also went for 4§
hours, by train from Peking, down to Canton at a time, which you will
remember, of considerable famine in China, and 1 saw various things
you cannot help seeing from a train window. I saw about 30 Chinamen
fighting for the last bun in a kind of great washing-basket of buns that
had been brought along to one of the plaftorms and that had run out;
there was a tremendous scramble for the last bun under my window.
I saw, as the train chugged by, a whole village marshalled on the hillside
with the political commissar putting the people of the village into the
picture. We were taken round the great People’s Hall, buiit, I gather,
by about 14,000 people working night and day, and were astonished, as
some of you may have been, at the immense size of the square where, 1
think, half a million people can come on parade watched by a million.
One of the great surprises of Peking to me was this immense square;
it dwarfs the Red Square in Moscow. We saw a bit of the army preparing
to take part in the great National Day in Peking. Their kits, their tents
and their layouts were all very good, I thought, and showed good discipline.
We saw all the people—be it in threes, nines or in a battalion, or even a
band, 900 strong—all marching about and having a job to do.

A WORRYING THOUGHT

My colleague, the Member for Chester., had been there in the late
thirties, and even in this recent time of famine he had to admit that the
bulk of the Chinese he saw were better off than formerly. And, of course,
in this last year they have had a better season. But what frightened me was
talking to their leaders. In the Institute of Foreign Affairs we had a dinner
and a discussion which went on for three or more hours. They talked
openly of their hatred of the United States of America, of the West which
to a large extent refused to recognize them, of all their works of art which
had been taken off by ship to Formosa, of how—looking at the future—
a few million or so lives did not matter all that much: and yet one of the
heads of the Bank of China said to me something which | shall never
forget. He said, *“ We in China are short of labour.” When you think
there may be, by the end of this century, a thousand million of them,
that is a very worrying thought, and I came away thinking—and I have
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said so constantly during the last two years—that | do not believe that
the free world has a clue what is going to hit them from China. 1 think,
it is a mixture of Nazidom and Cromwell’s England.

I remember trying—people in Moscow accept tips quite readily—to
give presents to the people in the train, little silver spoons with Cheshire
Cat and Liverpoc! Arms emblems, and things like that; you would have
thought that it was a reasonable present to accept for kindness, but no-one
in the train would accept anything from us. They would not take the
extra food that we had from our Embassy, although many of their families
must have been as hungry as the people I had seen under my carriage
window, and when we left our food in the train at Canton railway station,
they came running out with it to us in our taxis saying: “ You have left
your food behind.” The only way we could get rid of it was by giving it
to a nationalized hotel. It reminded me, to some extent, of the Praise-
God-bare-bones England of the 17th century and, of course, much of what
we saw was tremendously backward. The great steel works were a mixture
of pre-Dickensian England and a modern rolling plant: yet all muddled up.
Even then, nearly all the Russian technicians had gone. But despite all
that inefficiency, one got the impression that something pretty sinister
was going to come out of China, and all I can say is that it has happened
earlier than I expected.

ABORTIVE DISCUSSIONS

I should like to speak now about the past between India and China.
During the decade of the fifties India took China on trust following the
lines of Great Britain for many decades, when we, helping India open up
railways and roads, were always looking towards the North-West and
not to the North-East. During those fifties China consolidated her hold
on Tibet and lulled India by signing the Five Points of Co-Existence.
It is worthwhile just reminding ourselves what those five points were:

First: Mutual Respect for each others’ territories, integrity and sover-

eignty.

Second: Mutual non- aggression.

Third: Mutual non-interference which each others’ internal affairs.

Fourth: Equality and mutual benefit, and

Fifth: Peaceful co-existence.

And the Indians were lulled by that. However meanwhile the Chinese were
building the road through Ladakh-—the Aksai Chin road. In 1960 India
reacted, realizing what was happening in Ladakh, and pushed her posts
forward, possibly leapfrogging the Chinese in that wild and difficult
territory. 1 will not go into the problems of the 1959 Line which is really
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the 1960 Line. What is the line of control which is really not the line of
control, or even what is the 8th September Line? But you will find some
of them on the maps which I have brought which are the most up-to-date
that I can find, and which I thought you might like to see.

All this time there were abortive discussions between the two Govern-
ments, and then on the 8th September of last year, the Chinese crossed
the Tangla Ridge in NEFA. Between the 8th September and the 20th
October there was a kind of phoney war, but on the 20th October—and
it'is interesting that on the 19th the strike on the Brahmaputra had, | am
told, been settled, but that two pseudo-Trade-Unionists, Communists
perhaps, arrived and the strike began again on the 20th October, the very
day that a major offensive was launched against Tawang. This resulted
in Mr. Krishna Menon’s resignation and in a request for military aid from
the West. And | am glad to say that the first consignment, I believe, of
F.N. rifles and ammunition came from the United Kingdom, and was
followed very quickly by others from other Western allies. Then came
drama, and drama in a big way. On the 14th November, there came the
attack in NEFA which was in far greater strength than anything that
had been seen before and that led to the fall of Walong, to the turning
of the Se La Pass, to the fall of Bomdila and to the approach of the
Chinese armies to Tezpur. At the same time the offensive in Ladakh
was kept up. All that resulted in a cry for immediate and heavy help.
And it resulted too in major administrative changes both among ministers,
in the military command and among officials in the ministries of Defence.
Production, Military Organization and others. I am told that there was
an immense change in India’s thinking and outlook compared with say,
three months ago. Then came the ceasefire offer and the unilateral
decision of the Chinese to withdraw.

So what 1s the present position? 1 think there are about eight points
to remember; First 1 think that everyone 1s aware that China, after great
preparation, attacked in force an apparently friendly country to decide.
by arms, what was under discussion. That is a fact that I do not think
anyone should forget. They did that against the views that have been
accepted by the majority of nations for the last forty years. The second is.
regretfully, that India has suffered a defeat. One must remember that
even the line of September 8th is a compromise line. The third fact is
that China’'s ideas and statements have been full of complexities, pro-
bably on purpose, and I just wonder whether she is as sure of the rightness
of her cause as she pretends to be. At any rate clarification is vital, and |
am worried by some of the phraseology that greeted me in, say, the press
release on 3rd January, from the Office of the Chargé d"Affaires of the
People’s Republic of China. 1 will take some of the phrases at random.,
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because | think one has got to remember this in the context of other so
called ** pacific noises ~ elsewhere: * This memorandum once again shows
that the Indian Government is deliberately creating side issues, reversing
right and wrong. Concerning the western sector of the Sino-Indian border,
it has always been under China’s effective jurisdiction. This is an immov-
able fact that the Indian Government can by no means overthrow by
sheer fabrication. The Indian Government later fished out some spurious
historical evidence and tried in a far fetched way to describe this area as
belonging to India. Such an absurd and ridiculous way of argument
certainly cannot be regarded as serious.” Then again: “ No matter how
it haggles, the Indian Government cannot deny that its deliberate crossing
of the illegal McMahon Line and occupation of the Chedon area north
of the Line were an undisguised act of aggression and provocation.
The Indian Government is indeed arbitrary to the extreme in some un-
scrupulous and wilful distortion of Premier Chou En-Lari’s letter in order
to justify its own unreasonable stand. Concerning Wuje a similar trick
was played by the Indian Government. The Indian side has not only
continued provocations along the border and stepped up its arms expan-
sion and war preparations, but adopted a series of measures deliberately
aimed at poisoning relations between the two countries. The Indian
authorities have subjected the Chinese nationals in India to ruthless per-
secution. A difference between the positions held by Indian troops prior
to September 8th, 1962, and the line of actual control on November 7th,
1959, was precisely created by India through perfidious armed encroach-
ments on Chinese territory in the past three years by taking advantage
of the Chinese frontier guards cessation of patrol.”

FRIENDLY HELP

It all reminds me of remarks made in another continent two and half
decades ago, and I think one has got to bear that very much in mind.
The fourth point, and this is an encouraging one, is the resurgence of
India’s national purpose and her unity. 1 heard from Miss Barbara Ward,
Lady Jackson, who was staying with the High Commissioner when 1 was
there, how she came up through Gujarat and from the West and had seen
in village after village people giving virtually all they possessed—their
bangles and their gold jewellery—in order to help India’s fighting fund.
The fifth point is that the squabbles, the family friendly squabbles between
this country and India seem to have been completely forgotten due to
our quick response in sending arms by air and by sea. 1 do not think it
would be right now to go into any details of the military hardware that
we have had to produce. But we have shown to a fellow member of the
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Commonwealth friendly help in a time of need. There is another point,
and this is a sinister one in long term. All this will mean a continuing and
expensive drain on military and economic aid and also on the already
over-strained general economy. The fact is that this country had given
£95 million, 1 think, to the third Five Year Plan before this new call
happened. There is a final and major point about the present situation,
and that is the fear, the natural fear, in Pakistan, of the build-up of arms
in India, even though we in the West say that these arms are only going
to be used against China. What real trust, in the long run, can Pakistan
put in what they may regard as just a scrap of paper or a purely verbal
agreement? One must bear in mind the feeling in Pakistan of a great
build-up of potential force in a country which, unfortunately, has not seen
eye to eye with Pakistan since both became independent. Hence, in my
opinion, the immense importance of settling the problems between those
two great countries of India and Pakistan. Without that the threat to the
whole sub-Continent becomes very much greater.

May I now come on, as I see them to what the objectives of China are.
I think one has got to produce the caveat that not even the Chinese people,
in a great Communist autocracy such as China, are told what they in
point of fact are fighting for. It is not, therefore, all that easy to guess what
their ultimate objectives may be, but in short term obviously they wanted
to secure the road to Ladakh from Sinkiang. In medium term I guess it
is to continue to humiliate India through fear, to some extent, of India’s
economic success under democracy; secondly to keep India and Pakistan
apart; thirdly to lead Asia by frightening the small little countries:
Nepal, Burma, Bhutan,etc.—there may well be others—and possibly a fourth
point, to snub Moscow as the font or engine of the Communist faith,
and to show that in line with the ancient communist teaching violence
may pay better than co-existence.

And for the long term objectives, your guess is as good as anyone’s.
Is it China irredenta? Ts it to surround, as many of the Indian leaders
think, China with certain satellite Communist states such as surround
U.S.S.R.?7 Are they going to stop at the ancient maps? Is it just going to
be a Sudeten Line, or is it going to be much more? As in past wars of
religion, nationalism and faiths get a bit muddled up, and in my opinion
the former is the more dangerous.

Now why did China stop? Her short term and her medium objectives
had really been fulfilled. She has lots of time. Was it winter? Was it
fuel? Was it the great long haul from the eastern part of China over very
difficult country, or was it the reaction of the West and the danger of
escallation of war? Or was it again just India’s unity ? 1 suppose we will
have to wait for history to tell us.
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WONDERFUL RECEPTION

Now I at last come to what I did in India. My Secretary of State, as
you know, was suffering from a thing called ** Devil’s Grip”’ and I saw him
looking, I thought, very ill in bed the night before I left with the c.1.G.s.
We had a very exciting journey because, first of all, one of the engines of
our aeroplane packed up and we had to jettison our fuel over the English
Channel and come back, and then something went wrong with the next
one we got into, and we were going at 100 miles an hour on the runway
when the pilot had quickly to dethrottle. One wondered whether one was
going through the end of the runway or not, but ultimately we got to
India twenty minutes ahead of the Americans. We had a most wonderful
reception. General Chowdry came out to meet us and I had one day seeing
Mr. Nehru, Mr. Desai, the Foreign Secretary, and Mr. Chavan, the
Minister of Defence. We had a working lunch with the American team
under Mr. Averill Harriman and I saw Mr. Kera, the Secretary of the
Cabinet. We met other people in the evening at dinner. Then the devil
lost its grip on my Secretary of State, who at 5 o’clock the following
morning arrived at the airport at New Delhi, and together we had the
privilege of seeing that remarkable man, the President of India.

1 would like to pay a tribute now to my Secretary of State who, having
suffered from a severe, although [ am glad to say short, illness did so much
in flying backwards and forwards between New Delhi and Rawalpindi
in those few days to try and bring Pakistan and India so much more
closely together. Yet we in Britain cannot interfere. It is not right that
we should do so, even if we could. We are great friends with both countries
and it is naturally our hope that some of the difficulties which have
plagued both countries for so long and that undermine their economies
to such a large extent should be, if possible, now eliminated. | was able,
because my Secretary of State had arrived, to spend two days in Calcutta
taking a lift in the C.1.G.S’s plane; he was going on to Sikkim and to Tezpur,
and we flew to Calcutta with the American General Adams and his team
and with the p.Mm.0. of the Indian army. At Calcutta, 1 said goodbye to
them, because I particularly wanted to see those who had been evacuated
from the various tea estates, and to talk to the business community.

I would like to pay another tribute to the great work of the Indian Air
Force. Everyone whom | saw was loud in his or her praises for what the
Indian Air Force, backed up later by the Royal Air Force, had done in the
evacuation. There is a problem, of course, in another country, of how
much preparation an outside country like the United Kingdom can make,
but our Deputy High Commissioner spent, I think, about eight days up in
Assam in advanced headquarters and did, 1 thought and from all accounts,
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a magnificent job. All the women, children and people that | saw who had
come down to Calcutta praised what eflorts had been made. | saw a lot of
the business community. 1 started with a working breakfast and two of
Mr. Norris’ friends unfortunately for them had to come and talk to me
while I changed to catch the aeroplane—so it was a very full day! We were
discussing then, of course, the strike on the Brahmaputra that was holding
up, I think, something like fourteen million pounds of tea and four million
pounds of jute. As you know much better than I do, the Brahmaputra
really is the jugular vein of Assam, and so, with the railway gauge altering
and the road transport held up at the road ferries, it is impossible to
move that immensely important export from Assam except by water
down the Brahamputra.

Finally, India’s problems as I see them. Public opinion may not be
prepared to allow any Government to accept the existing line. It is apt
to forget that the army has suffered, possibly quite severely; it is apt to
forget that the Indian cities are wide open to any bombardment, and |
think we have got to remember that the September 8th line is already a
compromise. It is, therefore, not all that easy for India or any Government
of India to give way any more to either China or to Pakistan. Great
statesmanship on every side is needed, and this will mean more money,
immediately and in the long term, for both military and general economic
aid. 1t is vital that the standard of living of the country is kept up; as we
all know, the national income is very low indeed compared with anything
that we have experienced in the West. This reminds me of the silly story
of the small boy who had jd. in one trouser pocket and 19/5id. in
another, and when he was asked what he would have he replied: *“Someone
else’s trousers.” That does apply economically very much to the rich
West and the comparatively poor sub-Continent.

We in the West have these problems: Are we going to keep the frontier
of the free world on the Himalayas? If so, it is vital to get some under-
standing between Pakistan and India. Otherwise there is bound to be a
dissipation of effort, so in the end we come down to the need for great
personal efforts of statesmanship. It is going to be expensive whatever
happens. China, remember, is not part of the world community, and yet
the Scales of Justice are vain without her Sword; we have got to be sure
that the sub-Continent is to be kept within the free world, and that that
sub-Continent is safe. We must therefore liaise with all our allies. We
must not interfere as some of us might like to interfere, because this is.
in the end, a decision for the Governments of India and Pakistan. |
believe that what we can do is to be friendly and helpful in the background.
and if successful the prizes of containing aggression and getting world
peace are very great indeed.
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Lecture Discussion

The Sino-Indian
Frontier Dispute

Sir OLAarF CAROE, KCSI, KCIE,
addressed a joint meeting of the
East India Association and the Royal
Over-Seas League on Wednesday,
21st November, 1962, at Over-Seas
House, St. James’s, s.w.l. The
Rt. Hon. Lord Spens presided and
introducing the speaker said: As
usual when 1 preside at these meet-
ings of this Association, 1 never have
to say anything about the person
who is going to lecture because he
is, as a rule, far better known to all
of you than he is personally to me.
This time I hope to be able to claim
to know our lecturer as well as
anybody here. 1 never had the
advantage of serving with him in
India, although I have once or
twice been entertained by him there,
which perhaps is better than serving
with him, but Sir Olaf Caroe needs
absolutely no introduction to this
audience at all. We are exceedingly
fortunate at this particular moment
to have got someone who knows the
Frontier as well as he does, and
who not only knows the Frontier
physically, but has been in the
history of the Frontier for a large
number of recent years and knows
a great deal about the negotiations,
and the claims, and so forth. At

this particular moment a talk from
Sir Olaf, | believe, would have as
great value as a talk from anybody
who has appeared on the B.B.C. or
anywhere else, or has written to
The Times or any of our great
newspapers.

DISCUSSION

Dr. BRAMLEY: Referring to your
remark that Canada is sending a lot
of grain to China, surely it is a very
good thing because if you feed the
population rather than starve it
they may not have an aggressive
future. If you feed them and house
them, then there will not be a revolu-
tion.

Sir OLAF CAROE: There has been a
revolution already. 1 do not think 1
can answer that effectively. 1 do
think it should be considered in
Canada, at any rate, whether Canada
should send grain.

Mr. LiONEL JARDINE: Is there any
special significance in the date March
1962, which I think the Indian
Government has adopted, rather
than November, 1959.

Sir OLAF CAROE: I think it is
September 8th, 1962, that was the
beginning of the Chinese offensive
on the McMahon Line. It started
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really on September 8th, and what
India said, in effect, was that the
Chinese must vacate the gains made
since then before India could talk.
The difference is that the Indians
cannot contemplate going back in
what they regard as their territory,
and the Chinese say that both sides
must go back. As regards the
McMahon Line, as | tried to show,
this question does not only concern
the McMahon Line in the eastern
sector, but also Ladakh. The two
things act and interact the whole
time and the Chinese would be left
in occupation of even larger parts
of Ladakh if the Indians were to
accept this, even if it meant that
the Chinese went back behind the
McMahon Line.

Mr. H. H. Hoop: Would Sir
Olaf tell us a little more about the
Ladakh area, which 1s featured a
good deal in the newspapers? For
instance, the total area and what
would be the advantages to China by
taking possession of that terirtory.

Sir OLAF CAROE: To take the last
point first, the advantage to China
is that the road from Sinkiang into
Tibet crosses that territory. The
territory itself, except for its value
in communications, is almost com-
pletely valueless. If you want to
know something about the history
of why India is in Ladakh, it is
roughly this. The Mughals, as you
know, took Kashmir in the time of
Akbar towards the end of the 16th
century when Queen Elizabeth was

110

on the throne here, but they never
penetrated into Ladakh at that time.
Ladakh appears in later local records
in Aurangzeb’s time a century later
as paying tribute to the Governor
of Kashmir, about 1690. When the
Mughal Empire began to break up
on Nadir Shah’s capture of Delhi
in 1739, the founder of Afghanistan,
Ahmad Shah Abduli, the Durrani,
took Kashmir in 1752. The Durranis
held it over 50 years, but they never
got up into Ladakh. Ranjit Singh,
the Sikh ruler of the Punjab, con-
quered Ladakh again for India
through his feudatory, the ancestor
of the Marajahs of Kashmir. Gulab
Singh was his agent in Kashmir, and
one of his generals, his name was
Zorawar Singh, took Baltistan and
Ladakh and made them dependencies
of Kashmir. Zorawar himself was
killed when he invaded Tibet. Then
there was an agreement in 1842
between the Sikh Government of
the Punjab in Kashmir and the
Chinese and Tibetans—the Tibetans
were under a vague Chinese suzer-
ainty—which laid down the frontiers
of Ladakh between Kashmir and
Tibet. That was in 1842, before
the Sikh wars and before Kashimr
came under British suzerainty. In
1847, after the first Sikh war, when
the British became the suzerains
of Kashmir, they asked the Chinese
*“ What about this frontier between
Ladakh and Tibet?” And the
Chinese said: ** We will stand on the
1842 agreement made with Ranjit
Singh’s Government and the frontier
is very well known and that shall be



the frontier.” That is roughly the
position, and since then any one of
you who has been in Kashmir—
and some of you, no doubt, have
been to Leh, the capital of Ladakh
—will know that Ladakh was a
dependency of Kashmir.

A MEMBER: May | ask about a
report I read in the British Press
that the Chinese had an arrangement
for building a road from Lhasa to
Katmandu and that it was due to be
completed in October. Is this a fact?

Sir OLAF CAROE: 1 would not
know the details. 1 do not know
whether any of our Indian friends
here, or anyone from Nepal, can
give us actual information on the
state of that, but certainly the work
on the road has been begun and it
is part of the understanding between
China and Nepal reached as a result
of their frontier demarcation. The
Nepal situation is very interesting
because when the Ranas who ruled
Nepal for over 100 years were pushed
out in 1950, the watch-word was
representative Government rather
on the lines of India, and the King
was the person under whom it was
expected that this result would be
attained. But as we have all seen,
once the King had got his power
back—during the time of the Ranas
he was only a puppet—it was not
very long before the King himself got
rid of representative Government in
Nepal and he is strongly supported
by the Chinese and by the Russians.
You have the very odd situation

of a King being supported against
his people by the Communist Powers.

Sir CYRIL JONES: A big question
mark which some of us feel in trying
to interpret what lies behind recent
Chinese actions is whether they are
indicative of a deliberate policy of
expansionism on the part of China,
or whether 1t is, as the Chinese have
persistently maintained, a question
of frontier rectification. The en-
croachment into Northern Assam
seems to indicate a deliberate policy
of expansion. Would it be legitimate
to assume from this recent Chinese
withdrawal offer, which | think Sir
Olaf said indicates a willingness on
the part of the Chinese to trade in
recognition of the McMahon Line
on the East with securing a position
in Ladakh on the West, that the latest
of their actions is in fact frontier
rectification and not a policy of
expansionism ?

Sir OLAF CAROE: 1 wish I knew
China better. 1 spent 34 years in
India and two days in China, but
I think Sir Cyril Jones's questions
are so pertinent that I feel he could
probably give you a much better
answer than I can. [ still feel that
what | tried to describe as a certain
atavistic attitude to history is pro-
bably at the root of Chinese minds,
and it may be good tactics at the
moment to persuade the world,
especially India. that this is only
frontier rectification and that all that
the Chinese really want is the chunk
of Ladakh where their road is.
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But I would not put it past them,
when they have won the first round,
to work for a resuscitation of all the
shaded areas on the map—all the
shaded areas together are about the
size of England—that surely must
be termed expansionism.

Mr. W. E. R. GurNEY: You told
us that China may well be playing
a diplomatic game in attacking
India through Assam, and she might
well be willing to recognize the
McMahon Line in exchange for
the chunk of Ladakh which includes
Aksai Chin. Apart from that,
you have also said that this is a much
greater question, which it obviously
is, and I would like to ask: If you
get a settlement of the Kashmir
dispute, would Field Marshal Ayub
Khan’s suggestion that Pakistan and
India have a common defence policy
for the Northern Frontier help things
along? In that case medical supplies
could go through Pakistan, and so
on. Also the question arises whether
this part of Ladakh is of very much
use to India. The United Nations
proposal is that there should be a
plebiscite in Kashmir. If there was a
plebiscite it is quite possible that
the Ladakhis who, [ gather, are
ethnically Tibetans, Buddhist by
religion and speak Tibetan, might
very well elect almost unanimously
—if they were allowed to make the
choice—to go to Tibet, in which
case Mr. Nehru would not have to
give a portion of India away to
China, but would make a virtue of
self-determination.
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Sir OLAF CAROE: | have never
heard anyone else suggest that there
should be a plebiscite in any part
of Kashmir to allow any part of
Kashmir to go out of the Sub-
Continent altogether. It is quite a
new idea, and I would have said it
was an idea which neither India nor
Pakistan would look at for a moment.
If you will forgive me, I do not
propose to get into a discussion on
the Kashmir question or a settlement
of it. I would like to put forward
one constructive idea, if I may, on
the frontiers generally which springs
out of this premise that any assault
on the perimeter of the Sub-Con-
tinent is a matter of equal interest
to both States. That is that. If
India could say that the frontiers
on the Pakistan side of the Durand
Line are as vital to India as they
are to Pakistan, in fact vital to the
security and survival of both States,
and Pakistan in return could say
that the McMahon Line is of equal
importance to them as it is to India,
then they could be as one absolutely
on the sacrosanctity of the frontiers
of the Sub-Continent. I believe that
is an approach which would be
really constructive.

Lieut.-General Sir THOMAS
HutTtoN: I have only two points to
make, on one of which | feel rather
strongly. | have met a few people—
| am sure there are none of them here
today—who have been very critical
of India in regard to its policy in the
past of non-alignment, neutrality or
whatever you like to call it. They



have said almost, in so many words,
“ It serves them right!” 1 would
ask if you meet any people like that
to ask them to read certain memoirs
which are now appearing in The
Times, to visit, if they like, Grosvenor
Square and see the * Ban the Bomb’
people, or else, if they are of my age,
to cast their minds back to the peace
campaign which was so fervent in
this country between the wars.
We have also gone through our
period of neutrality and non-align-
ment and we paid the penalty, and
we ought not be critical of other
people with similar ideals.

Finally, 1 want to do my duty
quickly and to pay a tribute—with
which 1 am sure you will all agree—
to our speaker’s amazing knowledge
of this subject. 1 do not think I
could stand up and remember even
one of those names, let alone
numbers of them. He has made the
whole thing extremely clear to us,
he has shown that he has an encyclo-
pedic knowledge of it, and 1 am
sure we have enjoyed his talk today
as much, if not more, than anything
we have ever heard.

A Visit to India after the
Chinese Invasion

Mr. JouN TILNEY, MP, TD, spoke
at a joint meeting of the East India
Association and the Royal Over-
Seas League on Tuesday, 8th
January, 1963, at Over-Seas House.

St. James's, s.w.l1. The Rt. Hon.
Lord Spens, KBE, presided.

DISCUSSION

Dr. BRAMLEY : You passed through
Russia. Now all this is very serious
not only for the West, but | think
for Russia. Do you think that the
Russian Government will acquiesce
if the Chinese Government think
it fit to do what they like to do?
Do you not think that perhaps the
great Comintern of Russia will help
in the freedom of the world?

Mr. TiLNEY: | wish | knew. But
[ am reminded that when | was in
Moscow, when I was asking questions
about China, the conversation was
immediately turned to something
else, and when | was in Peking and
asking about Russia, again the con-
versation was immediately altered.

Dr. BrRAMLEY: It seems extra-
ordinary that the Indian Government
did not have enough military intelli-
gence to know what the Chinese were
about to do, and they seek aid and
arms at the last moment, when it is
almost too late nearly. Why did
they not fortify themselves a year
before to be ready for this cata-
strophe ?

Mr. TiLNEY: | imagine that it 1s
not all that easy to know what is
going on in China and certainly
up in Tibet. There had. of course,
been the Tibetan refugees, but that
was a little time ago, and that is the
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great strength unfortunately of Com-
munist tyranny; they stop people
from finding out. 1 know in our
Embassy in Peking, if anyone wanted
to go anywhere—outside the great
Wall, the Ming Tombs, Tienbin
or more than about eight miles
outside Peking—they had to give
about three weeks or a month’s notice
as to where they wanted to go, so
everyone is aware of exactly where
they go. It is not all that easy.
Whereas in India anyone can go
wherever they like. It is one of the
disadvantages of democracy.

Mr. RaDcLIFF: | would like to ask
Mr. Tilney how he thinks India
could improve her public image in
certain countries that feel that they
have been victims of Indian military
attack. For example how can India
convince the Portuguese that she is a
victim of military force and a friend
in Rtodesia tells me that India has
a very bad public image and also in
Katanga. How can India improve
her public image in those countries ?

Mr. TiLNEY: | would not like to
comment on that. I think that there
are many in India who may now
regret what happened in Goa, but
it is not for me to comment or even
to give advice.

Mrs. ZINKIN: When you were in
Delhi did you get the impression
that the people in command, perhaps
the President more than the other
people, or the Defence Minister
were considering the problems that
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face India on two borders: the
possible Pakistani aggression in
Kashmir and that forces would
therefore not be available for defence
in Ladakh. How seriously were they
looking at it ?

Mr. TiLNEY: 1 think they are well
aware of that problem, and 1 think
a lot of troops have been moved
from the frontier south of Kashmir.
Everyone is very well aware of the
cost, in terms of military might and
of actual economics, of what it
means to be fighting on two fronts.
The prizes of an agreement over
Kashmir are very big indeed.

Dr. BRAMLEY: Do you think it a
good idea to send arms to Pakistan
now that they seem to be worried
that only India is getting arms?

Mr. TiLNEY: Surely what one
wants really to do is eliminate the
causes of friction between the two
countries rather than to arm both,
possibly against each other. That
must be wrong. It is the causes of
that friction that, 1 think, one wants
to eliminate. But we have got to
be awfully careful in giving advice.
It is rather like interfering in a row
between one’s own family; they
may turn ultimately on you. It
really is not our job to interfere
unless we are asked by both sides
to do so. | remember in my first
election, if 1 may tell a short story,
that there were a number of spoilt
votes. One of the voting papers
had noughts for all three candidates,



and another one in my favour had
not one cross but two crosses against
my name, and underneath my name
was ‘‘ Love from Olga.”” Unfortunate-
ly, that was disallowed too. The
crosses showed that she wanted to
do something badly, but you have
got to be very careful how you do it!

A MEeMBER: Has Mr. Tilney any
comments to make on the Colombo
proposals, particularly with regard
to Mrs. Bandaranaike’s mission in
relation to the Chinese and Indian
agreement. And secondly would he
like to make any comments on the
historical ~ background of the
McMahon Line which does give a
certain measure of support to per-
haps the Chinese case or perhaps
more a matter of argument than
sometimes thought.

Mr. TILNEY: In front of this
audience, who must know far more
about the McMahon Line than I
do, I really do hesitate to make any
comment on the second part. As
regards Mrs. Bandaranaike's mission
and the proposals, these are not
really yet known, and so one cannot
make a comment on them.

Sir OLAF CAROE: | think we are
agreed that we have had an extra-
ordinary deep and far reaching talk
from Mr. John Tilney. When I saw
the picture of him and that he was
going out to India, I said to my wife:
*Good Lord! John Tilney will have a
time, and he will have an awful lot
of homework to do.”™ It is fright-

fully difficult to even understand
the beginnings of these lines, but |
think that we are all agreed that we
have heard reason to believe and
think that this is far more than a
border dispute. It is a tremendous
thing, it is probably the biggest
thing that has happened since 1950.
this rivalry between India and China
and whether, as Mr. Tilney said.
India and indeed the sub-Continent
can remain in the free world is really
the issue. And I think that we all
rise to the challenge of his last
remarks: That this is a matter which
demands statesmanship of the very
highest order on the parts of every-
body, in India, Pakistan, Gt. Britain
in the United States and elsewhere.
I think we will also agree that he has
shown us the line to statesmanship.

Crisis in South Asia

Sir  PErCIVAL  GRIFFITHS.  CIE.
addressed a joint-meeting of the
East India Association, Pakistan
Society, and the Royal Over-Seas
League at Over-Seas House. St.
James's, s.w.l. on Tuesday, 22nd
January, 1963.

Sir JoHN WOODHEAD presided and
introducing the speaker said: Sir
Percival Griffiths is well known to
you all and no introduction by me
is necessary. but 1 would like to say
one thing that this his last visit
to India was the forty-eighth visit
he has made to India to the sub-
Continent since Independence: so
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he should know something about
India and Pakistan should he not?
And Sir Percival 1 am rather glad
to be in the Chair today because it
will be the last occasion in which |
shall be able to keep you in order.
I was up to the Ist of January this
year President of the India, Pakistan,
Burma Association and Sir Percival
has succeeded me, so 1 shall be able
to keep him in order today, but I
shall not be able to keep him in
order in future; but Sir Percival’s
knowledge of India and Pakistan
is quite astounding. He went out to
India, to the sub-Continent In
October last year and was there until
the end of December. He visited
many parts of India and Pakistan.
He went up to the Assam and saw
the tea garden areas, and 1 am sure
he will be able to give us a most
interesting account of what happen-
ed in India during those two months.
When he went out 1 do not suppose
that he ever expected that there
would be a crisis such as has happen-
ed—he arrived out there in October,
but soon after he got there of course
the invasion of India by China took
place and he spent a very active time
between India and Pakistan.

You know Sir Percival well
enough, | am sure he will give you a
most lucid account of what has
happened.

DISCUSSION

Mrs. ZINKIN: How much would
the Third Five Year Plan have to be
cut?
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Sir  PErcivaL GRIFFITHS: | am
afraid I cannot even guess that yet
because 1 do not know the starting
point. 1 have no idea what the
Budget of defence would have to be
for India until the strategists, or
whatever the right word is, have
worked out what they are going to
need in the way of defence one does
not know where to begin to start
guessing about that; you will get
perhaps a better idea in a few months
time. I am sorry I cannot give an
intelligent answer at the moment.

Mr. ZAMAN: You have said that
China has already achieved its objec-
tive and that is why she stopped the
war. Do you think that in view of
this situation during the next Spring
there will be no war?

Sir PercivaL GRrIFFITHS: 1 said
that China had achieved her immedi-
ate objective. [ have very little
doubt that China’s long term objec-
tive 1s to be the boss of Asia, but
there may be many things to be done
in the process of becoming that
before a massive attack on India—
she may find it necessary to get a
position in Burma, she may find it
necessary to occupy many parts
of South Asia before she is ready
to try any real crossing of swords
with India. Well now if 1 were
China that would be my line, but
I am not China and I do not know.
If you make me guess 1 would guess
that there will not be a fresh attack
in the Spring because | do not see
what China has to gain by it yet,



but that is a very wild guess and |
may have to confess to you next
year that I was wrong. My guess
would be no, not next Spring.

Mr. IsLaM: Does the Speaker
think that the West should now
bring more pressure to bear on
India so that the negotiations will
not fail?

Sir PERCIVAL GRIFFITHS: Well,
I would disapprove of pressure
being brought to bear on India and
not on Pakistan, or on Pakistan and
not on India. The job of the West
is to say to both countries * You
have jolly well got to find a settle-
ment.”

Mr. H. A. MepD: There was one
thing that Sir Percival said that
surprised me and 1 think may have
surprised several other people and
that was that in the Government
of India as organized at present the
fifteen or sixteen people who were
extremely good at their own indivi-
dual jobs, but they were not under
any unitary rule from anybody.
Now we have always been given to
understand that is for some years
that if ever there was a Prime Minis-
ter who has led pre-eminently that
country it was Mr. Nehru, it seems
then that this failure if it is a failure
being evident does it date from
before the time when you said that
his reputation possibly suffered a
setback due to the Chinese business
or was it evident before that?
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Sir PErRCivaL GRIFFITHS: It was
not very evident before that Sir, it
began to be evident really when the
China thing began to be the domin-
ant factor, and 1 suspect that there
are perhaps two reasons for it. One is
that Mr. Nehru all his life has striven
for peace with China and has had
to see the collapse of his foreign
policy. That by itself must have
been a very undermining factor for
him, and on top of that | think that
it i1s over and over again the case in
international affairs that the man
who is pretty good at directing
people in peace has not got quite the
militant drive for directing them in
war; 1 doubt whether Mr. Nehru
could ever make a great war leader,
could take quick decisions about the
kind of thing that have to be decided
in times of war.

Mr. BRANDER: Would Sir Percival
tell us something about that quarrel
between Pakistan and Afghanistan,
whether they settled it in any
way because their trade was alto-
gether stopped so perhaps they have
come to some practical decision
to let it go on again; it was stopping
all the imports and exports.

Sir PERCIVAL GRIFFITHS: No, there
has been no settlement so the quarrel
continues and in a general way the
embargo continues; there have been
certain exceptions made with regard
to cargoes of particular kinds, but
there is no general resumption of
trade there yet at all and feeling is
still quite bad.
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Mr. A. Rep: Does Sir Percival
think that the proposals that Mrs.
Banderanaike has brought to Delhi
recently will succeed?

Sir PERCIVAL GRIFFITHS: May we
put it this way. If I were India I
don’t think I would be very unhappy
about them. They differ from what
India had in mind in that they would
not allow India to occupy the areas
from which the Chinese had with-
drawn. I think that if I were India
I would say that does not really
matter very much, that the areas
are of no importance to anybody at
all and what really matters to
India is to buy time, and personally
if I were the Prime Minister of India
I would not be too unhappy about
accepting them because that would
give me time to build up my defences.
What China’s reaction will be I
have no idea at all, but I would not
be worried about accepting them if
I were the Prime Minister of India
—I am very glad I am not!

Lady StokEes: Could Sir Percival
tell us why India was so ill prepared
for this Chinese invasion?

Sir PercivAL GRIFFITHS: Well,
I think there were several reasons for
it. I do not think that until a relative-
ly short time ago anybody took
the Chinese danger seriously. Mr.
Krishna Menon has been the scape-
goat and I think perhaps rightly so,
but in the same way in this country
when we were not prepared either
in the first or second war we had to
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find scapegoats. Really the fault
here was the lack of will on the part
of the people to be ready, and 1
think the same thing was true in
India. That people were not willing
to face up to the fact that there
might in fact be a war. For one
thing that many people in India had
an entirely false idea of the protection
afforded by the great Himalayan
barrier. [ remember talking to a
very senior official about that as far
back as 1951 or 1952 and telling
him some of my anxieties and he
brushed them all aside and said the
Himalayas were a tremendous
barrier, and no army could really
operate across it. Well, of course,
it is nonsense when you have seen
thousands of mule men—I have
said this in this room before—when
you have seen thousands of mule
men come down over those hills
year by year you realize that where
mule men can come armies can
come too. A false idea of security
was built up. Secondly, there is no
doubt at all that Mr. Krishna
Menon was to a great extent respon-
sible by his political promotions in
the Army, by his failure to provide
the necessary equipment—it is a
shocking thing that the Indian Army
was sent to fight in those hills with
no warm clothing of any kind at all.
There were terrible failures of pre-
paration for which you must blame
entirely Mr. Krishna Menon; [
suppose that Mr. Nehru must take
some of the blame too, because he
for a long time refused to recognize
that China might be belicose in her



intentions so you have to share the
blame I think between Mr. Nehru,
Mr. Krishna Menon and the public,
just as we In this country had to take
a great share of the blame for not
being prepared for the last two wars.

Mr. ZaMaN: Do you not agree
Sir Percival that they were prepared
for the war. That they were pre-
pared and were arming, but they
thought that the fighting would be
in the plains against some country
in the plains—mnot China?

Sir PERCIVAL GRIFFITHS: I would
answer that by saying that I think
if they had not been hypnotized by
these fallacies and these false ideas
they could not have failed to see
that their fighting would have to be
in the hills. China was obviously
the enemy, and fighting China was
going to be very, very largely in the
hills, and I think they were blind
just as we were blind in this country.

Mr. ALaMm: Did India take advan-
tage of border clashes to cover up
internal troubles ?

Sir PErRcIVAL GRIFFITHS: With
very great respect sir, 1 think that
that is quite an unrealistic idea.
I think to suggest that India can
have arranged that the Chinese
could have been in a position where
they could have wiped out the North
Indian tea industry, they could have
wiped out Digboi, they could have
taken away some of the biggest
sources of India’s wealth, 1 think it

is with very great respect utterly
and completely unrealistic.

Mr. ALam: [ suggest the whole
took place at a time when, if you
go back, it was at such a time that a
large scale invasion was impossible.
It was also at a time when the
question of the United Nations
was coming up, so in that respect,
keeping in view, the question of
military aid and keeping in view
that they would have more aid for
the Third Five Year Plan the whole
incident was bolstered up to make it
an international issue.

Sir PErCIVAL GRIFFITHS: | am
sorry but I can only repeat that
that in my judgment 1s quite fantastic.
A large scale military invasion at
that time was impossible, but a
complete annexation of Assam was
a very, very practicable possibility
indeed. And do you really seriously
think that India would assist her
Third Five Year Plan by losing
the whole of her North Indian tea
industry, by losing her Digboi oil,
by losing some of the most fertile
land in the country? With very
great respect sir, 1 think that you
are being led astray by your feelings
into an error of judgment.

Sir CyrIL Jones: Mr. Chairman,
ladies and gentlemen, it is just as
unnecessary to propose a vote of
thanks to Sir Percival Griffiths for
his address as it is for our Chairman
to introduce him to this audience,
nonetheless it is a very pleasant

119



duty that falls to me because as you
all know there is no person or very
few people who by knowledge,
experience access to people that
matter out in South East Asia who
can speak with a greater breadth
of experience and authority than
Sir Percival Griffiths. 1 think the
East India Association and the
Pakistan Society are extremely for-

tunate in having the benefit of
Sir Percival’s periodical addresses
to us and the interest that they
arouse is evident every time he comes
by the size of the audience who comes
to hear him. It is a very great
pleasure for me to propose a hearty
vote of thanks to Sir Percival for
his most interesting, penetrating and
informative address to us.

The Objects of the East India Association

(INDIA PAKISTAN AND BURMA)

IN 1866. eight years after the assumption of the government of India by the Crown, the East
India Association was formed with the object of ‘ the promotion of the public interest
and welfare of the inhabitants of India generally.”” This object was steadfastly pursued during
the ensuing eighty-one years. The Independence of India and Pakistan attained in 1947,
while modifying the original conception, has increased the need for strengthening the bonds
of friendship and the importance of mutual understanding between the people of Britain and
the inhabitants of the countries formerly comprising the India Empire—namely, India,
Pakistan, and Burma. Thec Association therefore is continuing its work, with the assistance
of all those who are interested in the welfare and progress of these countries, by the
methods which have proved so helpful in the past, namely:

1. By lectures on current questions affecting those countries and publication of the same.

%]

By providing opportunities for the free discussion of important questions affecting
India, Pakistan, and Burma.

3. By promoting friendly contact between the peoples of these countries and of Britain
through the medium of social and other gatherings.

4. Generally by the promulgation of reliable information regarding the countries named.

The Association is essentially non-official in character and has no connexion with any
political party. It seeks to provide an open platform for the consideration of current problems
relating to India, Pakistan, and Burma. 1t welcomes as members all those who are interested
in their welfare and progress.

Papers are read and discussed throughout the year, except in the months of August and
September. Members are entitled to invite friends to these meetings.
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